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“Just wanted to say thank you on behalf of Chase and I 
for being able to participate today (Annual Luncheon).  It 
was touching to see the wide community support behind 

everything you and the team do. Such a wonderful event.”

Narcis (mother of junior member Chase)

Image  left: Madison de Rozario racing in the 29th Oz Day 10K, Australia Day in The Rocks

NOTE:  The acronym for Wheelchair Sports NSW namely WS NSW will be used throughout the 
copy of this Annual Report.



WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW
Our Vision:
To enrich the lives of individuals with a physical disability through participation in sport.

Staff
Chief Executive Officer: 
Manager Sports Programs and Events: 
Sports Development Officer: 

Regional Sports Development Officer (Northern):
 
Regional Sports Development Officer (Southern): 
Fundraising Manager: 
Fundraising Administrator:
Fundraising Assistant: 
Grant Writer: 
Accounts: 
Office Administrator / Roadshow Manager: 
Stadium Manager: 

Jim O’Brien
Kathleen Nicholls 
Melanie Chapman (until August 2017), Jessica 
McMahon (from August 2017) and Mark Wilson
Shaun Fitzgibbon (until September 2017), 
Joseph Shoebridge (from October 2017)
Todd Parker 
Helen O’Connor 
Deborah Harding
Margaret Malouf 
Gerardine Grace
Anthony Sammut, Sue Wellfare, Bill Hooker
Mel Jones
Matt Wilkinson

Life Members: 
Richard Cordukes, Michael Godfrey-Roberts AM, Errol Hyde, Craig Jarvis OAM, Terry Mason, Ray Munro, 
Eino Okkonen, Linda Ross, Judy Simpson, Yvonne Talbott OAM, Graeme Watts AM, Jeff Wiseman and 
Kevin Betts OAM (deceased)

Board of Directors
Numbers in brackets denote Board meetings attended out of 5 (from April 2017 to March 2018)

Chair: David Piper OAM (1) resigned 26/06/2017
 Jason Preston (5) Chair from 27/07/2017
Vice 
Chair: Craig Jarvis (5)

Our Mission:
In order to achieve our vision we will:
• Provide quality sporting opportunities for all ages 

and stages.
• Engage with our members and be responsive to 

their needs.

Values:
Our values are to:
• Strive for excellence.
• Celebrate our achievements.

Directors: 
Angela Ballard (0) resigned 26/06/2017 (AGM)
George Bogdanovic (3) from 26/06/2017 (AGM)
Chris Nicholls (4)
Di Pass (4)
Colin Roden (3)
Sarah Stewart (4) from 26/06/2017 (AGM)
Brendon Talbott (4)
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• Build strong and strategic relationships with the 
community and government.

• Ensure sustainability.
• Promote brand awareness.
• Advocate integration into mainstream sport.

• Display empathy and respect.
• Be ethical, transparent and accountable.



HIGHLIGHTS 2017 – 2018

 » GIO NSW Wheelchair Rugby Gladiators were National Champions for 4th consecutive season

 » Wollongong RollerHawks win the National Wheelchair Basketball League

 » Sydney Metro Blues Women win the Women’s National Wheelchair Basketball League 

 » Madison de Rozario wins Gold in the T54 5,000m at the International Paralympic Committee (IPC) 
Athletics World Championships

 » Greg Luff wins 3 Gold medals at the inaugural IPC Athletics Junior World Championships

 » Life Member and Vice Chair of the WS NSW Board Craig Jarvis was awarded the Order of Australia 
for services to the disability sport community.

 » The Sydney International Wheelchair Tennis Open celebrated its 30 year Anniversary

 » Troy Sachs OAM was inducted into the Sport Australia Hall of Fame

 » WS NSW hosted the inaugural Canberra Open Wheelchair Tennis Tournament

 » Lisa Edmonds was inducted into the Basketball NSW Hall of Fame

 » Phillip Plackett wins the Multi Disbaility Pairs at the 2017 Australian Open Lawn Bowls 
Championships with partner Bernie Wolland (QLD).

 » The WS NSW Roadshow was awarded a $100K grant from the Minister for Roads

 » GIO Insurance became the Regional Partner of WS NSW taking over the icare Building Stronger 
Regions Program.

 » Madison de Rozario defended her GIO Oz Day 10K title.

 » Ron Mowday was awarded Disability Bowler of the Year by Bowls NSW

 » Jim Callinan, Sky News, won the Best Coverage of Sport for People with a Disability Award at the 
2017 Australian Sports Commission Media Awards for his commentary of the 2017 GIO Oz Day 10K.
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CHAIR REPORT

Talking of awards and successes we 
should single out some individuals 
and teams and congratulate them.  
Basketballer Troy Sachs OAM was 
inducted into the Sport Australia 
Hall of Fame while basketballer Lisa 
Edmonds was inducted into the 
Basketball NSW Hall of Fame.  Track 
athlete Madi de Rozario achieved 
a World Championship gold medal, 
Greg Luff was awarded the NSW 
Junior Athlete of the Year with a 
Disability while the Men’s Roller 
Hawks and the Women’s Sydney 
Metro Blues Basketball teams won 
their respective National Leagues. 
Also the NSW Gladiators Wheelchair 
Rugby team won the National 
Championships.  Outstanding results 
all round and other successes are 
listed in the body of this Annual 
Report.

WS NSW took part in an 
Organisational Health Survey with 
the NSW Government Office of Sport 
along with 95 other State Sporting 
Organisations.  For various aspects 
of our operations e.g. financial 
management, delivery of services, 
leadership etc. we received a 
score of 78% which was above the 
average of 75% for the sector.  We 
were recorded as having “sound 
organisational health” which was 
pleasing.

This result and recommendations 
were taken into account in a 
major Strategic Planning process 

by the Board and staff. In this 
process we have focussed on 4 
major Strategies namely Member 
Satisfaction, ensuring we remain 
relevant to the Membership, Staff 
and Volunteer Support through a 
strong operating model, Sustainable 
Funding and methods to achieve 
that funding, and lastly Continuity 
of our Operation by maintaining our 
brand / reputation and our program 
delivery to members.

Could I thank all those who assist 
with the work of WS NSW. These are 
our donors, corporates, sponsors, 
trusts / foundations, supporters and 
friends.  In particular we thank GIO 
for their unwavering support.  Others 
are listed in this Annual Report.

Another group that needs to be 
thanked is our Volunteers.  They 
are generous with their time and 
commitment and are found across 
the length and breadth of NSW.  
Thank you also to CEO Jim O’Brien 
and his dedicated staff who believe 
strongly in the work they do.  And 
to my fellow Board members I am 
appreciative of your contribution.

I wish our members the very best 
in their future sporting endeavours.  
WS NSW is here for you, the 
members, and to support you in your 
sporting pursuits.

Jason Preston
Chair

“Our brand and reputation is 
strong with our stakeholders...”

I was delighted and honoured to 
take on the role of Chair of WS 
NSW following last year’s AGM.  
My predecessor David Piper OAM 
had done a wonderful job for the 
past 4 years and I look forward to 
continuing the momentum in these 
exciting but challenging times.  Our 
brand and reputation is strong with 
our stakeholders and we need to 
retain this as we explore ways to 
sustain WS NSW into the future.

There were 2 changes to the Board 
make-up in the past year.  Three time 
Paralympian, and a driving force 
in women’s wheelchair basketball 
Sarah Stewart, joined us taking the 
place of Angie Ballard who spent 
13 years on the Board.  We thanked 
Angie for her significant contribution 
particularly when it came to member 
representation.

Following David Piper stepping 
down, his place was taken by George 
Bogdanovic who is GM Financial 
Performance at icare.  He previously 
worked for Suncorp in the CTP 
Insurance sector.  Obviously he has 
links with 2 of our major supporters / 
sponsors namely icare and GIO.

While on the Board we must 
congratulate long term Board 
member and great contributor Craig 
Jarvis who was awarded an OAM in 
the Australian Honours listing for his 
services to wheelchair sports for the 
last 38 years.
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CEO REPORT

Another challenge that we face is 
associated with our major event of 
the year – the Oz Day 10K in The 
Rocks.  In the last few years we 
have had to move from Alfred St to 
George St North for a start / finish 
and as well for the first time have our 
wheelchair racers do the 3 laps of a 
course because of the encroachment 
of developments in the Rocks and 
Barangaroo precincts.  We are being 
squeezed and further developments 
along Hickson Rd in the Rocks could 
compromise the course and our 
iconic race.

We were delighted that GIO took 
over the sponsorship of our regional 
program from icare.  This enabled 
us to continue some great regional 
initiatives following icare’s initial 2 
year seed funding.  Our Regional 
Sports Development Officers are 
travelling to all parts of the State and 
providing increased opportunities for 
wheelchair sport participation.

In the past year we have had a few 
staff changes at WS NSW.  Sports 
Development Officer Melanie 
Chapman moved on after 3 years 
of wonderful service. Her place was 
taken by Jessica McMahon.  Joseph 
Shoebridge is the new Regional 
Sports Development Officer for the 
north of the State and Deborah 
Harding joined our fundraising team.  
Welcome to these 3 individuals.

Whilst on staffing I want to 
personally thank my staff for their 

hard work and dedication to our 
work.  The staff are very conscious 
of a member first philosophy and 
supporting members in any way 
possible.  Also there is always a 
need to recognise the work of our 
wonderful volunteers who continue 
to give their time and energy.

We cannot survive without the 
help of our donors, sponsors and 
supporters.  Thank you to those 
individuals and organisations that 
believe in us and the work we do 
and back that up with their financial 
support.

Lastly to Chair Jason Preston and 
the Board I thank you for your 
commitment, vision and trust.

To our members there is not a day 
that goes by when we don’t marvel 
at your feats and ability and we 
will always be there to assist you in 
realising your sporting goals.

Jim O’Brien
CEO

The finances for our last financial 
year show an interesting bottom 
line.  A surplus or profit of close to 
$300,000 has eventuated but there 
is one big item that has influenced 
this.  Over the last few years we 
have received very significant funds 
($292,000) from icare for upgraded 
improvements to our Kevin Betts 
Stadium.  All this money has been 
invested and we now have to 
realise this amount as income in 
our finances.  So our profit for the 
year roughly corresponds with 
this amount, meaning we would 
otherwise be looking at a break even 
budget without these icare funds.

Still we are facing difficult times in 
the years ahead as our income slides 
(a common situation for the majority 
of charities) and the fact that we 
are without recurrent funding.  The 
Board is very conscious of this and 
is examining various strategies to 
ensure long term sustainability of WS 
NSW.

We were delighted last year to 
receive a $100,000 from the NSW 
Minister for Roads for our WS NSW 
Roadshow program.  This enabled 
us to purchase a new Mercedes 
Sprinter van for the Roadshow as 
well as replace and refurbish most of 
our fleet of Roadshow wheelchairs.  
We are confident Transport for 
NSW will come on board again for 
a further 2 year sponsorship of the 
Roadshow.

“The staff are very conscious of 
a member first philosophy and 
supporting members in any way 
possible. ...”
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“I’m impressed with 
the work they (WS 

NSW) do and the way 
they engage their 

supporters.”

- John Randle (supporter)



GIO SUMMER DOWN UNDER 
WHEELCHAIR TRACK AND 
ROAD RACING SERIES

DOWN UNDER - 2018 

Summer Down Under Canberra Track Meet

The 2018 GIO Summer Down Under 
Series held in January showcased 
elite wheelchair races from all 
over the world competing in an 
international series of wheelchair 
track and road racing. WS NSW 
hosted a quality event with athletes 
competing in a 2 night track meet at 
the AIS Track in Canberra, a Twilight 
Sprint and Skins Track Meet at 
Blacktown International Sportspark, 
and of course the GIO Oz Day 10K 
celebrating 29 years on the road. 
The Series commenced with a 
welcome function hosted by the 
naming rights sponsor GIO at the GIO 
Stadium, Canberra. Board member 
Brendon Talbott MC’d the evening 
and conducted a panel interview 
with 4 athletes from the Series. With 
a 2018 focus on the Commonwealth 
Games, Brendon interviewed 
Canadian athletes Alex Dupont 
and Jessica Frotten and Australian 
athletes Jemima Moore and Kurt 
Fearnley OAM. Surayez Rahman from 
GIO welcomed the athletes to our 
nation’s capital and ACT Minister 
for Disability, Children and Youth - 
Rachel Stephen-Smith wished the 
athletes well for the Series. 
The Canberra weather was scorching 
hot! After several days of 35˚C (and 
higher) temperatures, both evenings 
of the track meet were delayed by 
an hour to allow for safe athlete 
competition. Also conducted in 
Canberra during the Series was 
our “Race on Rollers” promotional 
event. This was again conducted in 
Canberra Civic Centre and proved 
popular with the public and our 
athletes. 

In Sydney, athletes, sponsors, 
supporters and friends of WS NSW 
attended a reception hosted by the 
The Governor of NSW, General David 
Hurley AC DSC (Ret’d) and his wife 
Mrs Hurley at Government House. 
The defending Oz Day 10K Women’s 
Champion Madison de Rozario 
welcomed the international athletes 
to Sydney and thanked the sponsors 
and supporters for their involvement 
in the Series. Matthew Kayrooz 
(representing GIO) and Jim O’Brien 
CEO of WS NSW also spoke at the 
event reflecting on the impact the Oz 
Day 10K has on the community on 
Australia Day. 
The second track event of the Series 
was held on Wednesday 24 January 
at the Blacktown International 
Sportspark Athletics Centre. This 
meet had sprints, relays and 
alternate racing events where athlete 
raced for sprint qualifying times, and 
cash and prizes. This event continues 
to evolve and present up close and 
personal athlete, supporter and 
sponsor engagement.

On Australia Day, Friday 26 January, 
Sydney’s streets around The Rocks 
were closed for the 29th Oz Day 10K. 
This year the race was broadcast 
live via the Fox Sports News channel 
through our partnership with Sky 
News sports anchor Jim Callinan. 
Fortunately, the rain held off during 
the race as we watched crowd 
favourite and defending champion 
Kurt Fearnley OAM battle with his 
younger and new rivals Tomoki 
Suzuki (JPN) and Daniel Romanchuk 
(USA). Kurt had to settle for second 
place with Suzuki taking the honours 
of the first winner of the new 3 lap 
course. Open Women’s defending 
Champion Madison de Rozario 
(NSW) won the women’s race ahead 
of Jemima Moore (ACT) and Jessica 
Frotten (CAN). 
WS NSW member Gregory Luff 
placed second in the Junior division 
behind Victorian Sam Rizzo. The 
Junior sprint race, a spectator 
highlight for the morning, saw 5 WS 
NSW developing athletes push 100m 
up George Street to the finish line of 
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the Oz Day 10K. 
The GIO Oz Day 10K cannot take 
place without our sponsors and 
we do need to recognise the great 
contribution of GIO as naming right 
sponsor for the 8th time in 2018. 
Organisations that also committed 
support in 2018 were;
Invacare 
icare
Department of Family and 
Community Services
Physical Disability Council of NSW 
(PDCN) 
Blacktown City Council
Office of Sport, NSW
And our contra and support sponsors 
included:
Department of Premier and Cabinet 
NSW
Avviso PR
Santa Vittoria (Water)
Once again thanks must go to the 
tireless efforts of Serena Ovens our 
Event Manager. Also recognised is 
the great work of the officials from 
Athletics ACT and Athletics NSW, and 
our wonderful band of volunteers. 
For more results or to watch the 
2018 GIO Oz Day 10K, visit www.
wsnsw.org.au/sports/summer-
down-under/ 

“I enjoyed all the events I attended and I know the other icare people 
who were there had a fantastic time and thought the whole event 

(Oz Day 10K) was really well run”

- Paul Tweddell (icare)

His Excellency General David Hurley AC DSC (Ret’d), Governor of New South Wales with Sam 
McIntosh, Jemima Moore and Jake Lappin at the Government House Welcome Reception

Start of the 2018 GIO Oz Day 10K

“Thanks so much for the invitation to both the launch and the Oz Day 10K. 
You and your team do an amazing job and I thoroughly enjoyed myself once 

again”

- Kate McLoughlin (GM Games Delivery Australian Paralympic Committee) 
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ANNUAL AWARDS DINNER
To celebrate the tremendous 2017 efforts of our members, supporters, coaches, volunteers, staff and Board, the 
Annual Awards Dinner was held at the Canada Bay Club in February 2018.
Congratulations to the following award recipients for 2017:

Sport Awards

Athletics:  Madison de Rozario  
Basketball:  Brett Stibners OAM
Handcycling:  Emilie Miller
Junior:   Gregory Luff
Lawn Bowls:  Jamie Reynolds  
Rugby:   Ryley Batt OAM   
Swimming:  Matt Levy OAM
Tennis:   Ben Weekes   

The Invacare Rising Star Award
In 2014 our friends at Invacare 
approached CEO Jim O’Brien and 
the Sports Development Unit to 
develop the relationship between 
our two organisations, and the 
“Invacare Rising Star Award” is part 
of the partnership that has been 
established.
The 2017 Invacare Rising Star was 
awarded to 11 yr old Chase Burch. 
Throughout 2017 Chase participated 
in wheelchair tennis tournaments in 
Wollongong, Sydney and Melbourne. 
These tournaments gave him good 
exposure to experienced players 
from Australia and overseas. 
Chase also had the opportunity 
to participate in Tennis Australia 
training at the Australian Institute of 
Sport in Canberra for the first time 
in 2017, which showed him how 
much more there is to achieve on his 
sporting journey. Chase was given a 
Junior Scholarship by Tennis Australia 
in 2016 and his contract has been 
extended for 2018. Chase joined 
the NSW Blues Junior Wheelchair 
Basketball team to play in the 
2017 Country Cup in Narrabeen 
and attended basketball camps 
regionally.  

2017 Clubperson of the Year 
The winner of the 2017 Clubperson 
of the Year is an outstanding 
member of WS NSW. She is a 
volunteer, a role model, a valuable 
assistant on reception from time to 
time in the WS NSW office, and a 

Wheelchair Sports NSW 2017 Athlete of the Year Madison de Rozario

brand Ambassador for WS NSW – 
Yvonne Talbott OAM.
Yvonne, or Mrs T to many in the 
organisation, volunteered at many 
events throughout 2017. Yvonne 
worked tirelessly at our fundraising 
events namely the 2017 Race Day 
and 2017 Annual Luncheon. Yvonne 
is also one of the faces of WS NSW 
VIP hospitality at sporting events 
including the Oz Day 10K, wheelchair 
tennis and wheelchair rugby. Of 
course, the Junior Wheelie Christmas 
Camp would not be complete 
without Mrs T at the helm.
Congratulations to Yvonne our 2017 
Clubperson of the Year.

WS NSW Athlete of the Year 
2017 
The winner of Athlete of the Year 
was Madison de Rozario.
In 2017 Madi won Gold in the T54 
5,000m, Silver in the T54 800m and 
Bronze in the T54 1,500m at the 
World Championships in London. 
Madi also won the Open Women’s 
Division of the 2017 GIO Oz Day 10K. 
Congratulations Madi.
Thank you and congratulations to 
the Annual Dinner Committee for 
the fun evening which had great 
spirit and camaraderie. The quiz 
conducted by Life Member Craig 
Jarvis OAM was again a big test for 
the trivia buffs. Thank you also to 
those individuals and businesses 
who donated prizes in the raffle.

PAGE 8 | ANNUAL AWARDS DINNER

Association Awards

Volunteer of the Year:  Laura Brienesse (Track and Road)
Rookie of the Year:  Harry Clist (Rugby) 
Encouragement Award:  Taitum Brown (Basketball)
Coach of the Year:  Louise Sauvage OAM
Team of the Year:  Roller Hawks (Basketball)



JUNIORS

WS NSW Junior of the year Gregory Luff with his Gold medal at the 
2017 IPC Junior Athletics World Championships

Junior Athlete of the year:  Gregory Luff
Rookie of the year:   Harry Clist
Encouragement Award:  Taitum Brown
Invacare Rising Star Award:  Chase Burch

School Holiday Programs
In 2017 WS NSW introduced the Junior School Holiday 
Program. These ran in the April and July school holidays. 
The April camp at Putney attracted 8 junior members, 
participating in tennis, table tennis, hand cycling, 
basketball and games. The July program involved similar 
activities, with 12 participants at the Auburn PCYC.

Christmas Camp
49 campers participated in the 2017 Junior Wheelie’s 
Christmas Camp. Not only did the camp host several 
professional coaches who specialise in making their 
sports adaptable to all abilities, but also a number of WS 
NSW ambassadors and elite wheelchair athletes gave their 
time to the next generation of WS NSW members.
WS NSW Ambassadors who attended the camp 
included Australian women’s cricket star, Alex Blackwell 
who jumped in a chair for a game of wheelchair 
basketball. Also Bryan Fletcher, former NRL Australian 
representative, was brave enough to take on some 
of the juniors at wheelchair fencing, before the team 
of mentors grew with the addition of three-time gold 
medal winning Paralympian Kurt Fearnley OAM. Kurt 
joined in the team sport rotations on the Saturday 
morning, before taking two of the youngsters out on 
the Narrabeen Lake when the group went canoeing. 
The Sunday morning track session attracted the likes 
of three-time Paralympian Madison de Rozario and 
Australian sporting legend Louise Sauvage OAM.
Juniors and volunteers alike participated in wheelchair 
basketball, balloon soccer, badminton, lawn bowls, 
rugby, adaptive yoga, track and hand cycling, fencing and 
all manner of games throughout the weekend.

Kevin Coombs Cup
The NSW Juniors finished 4th at the 2017 Kevin Coombs 
Cup in Townsville. A strong win over Western Australia 
(WA) was their only win in the rounds with teams from 
Queensland and Victoria (VIC) being extremely strong. 
Another strong win over WA put the NSW Juniors in the 
bronze medal playoff however VIC once again proved 
too strong for the NSW Juniors. As always the NSW team 
represented WS NSW extremely well on and off the 
court. Thank you to Troy Sachs (Head Coach), Josh Meoli 
(Assistant Coach) and Kris Riley (Manager) for all their 
hard work.
The team was: Taitum Brown, Jessica Cronje, Maryanne 
Latu, Annabelle Lindsay, Ben Meoli, Georgia Munro-
Cook, Ashlea Pellow, Jess Pellow, Nicholas Scott, Keltan 
Williams

PAGE 9 | JUNIORS

Fun at the Junior Wheelie Christmas Camp

NSW Junior Team huddle at 2017 Kevin Coombs Cup



WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW ROADSHOW
ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2017/2018: 
During the 2017/2018 period the 
Roadshow has continued to achieve 
high numbers of repeat bookings 
and many new bookings for the 
Program.  We have presented the 
WS NSW Roadshow Program to over 
230 schools and community groups 
with over 38,000 attendees.
The BStreetsmart, Smarter Safer 
Drivers forum is a three day event 
held at Allphones Arena in Sydney 
Olympic Park where thousands of 
high schools throughout NSW visit 
the forum to witness a car crash 
scenario, hear personal stories 
from families who have lost loved 
ones, and guest speakers who have 
suffered major trauma due to a 
vehicle accident.  The Roadshow 
program was involved, in the forum 
allowing students to participate in a 
wheelchair basketball game during 
their interactive time on the day.  
The BStreetsmart event allows the 
Roadshow to be witnessed by 18,000 
students over the three days.
The Goulburn Expo is a two day 
event where we get to demonstrate 
the WS NSW Roadshow program to 
all members of the public.  It attracts 
hundreds of people each day and 
has been a regular booking in our 
schedule each year.

ROADSHOW PROGRAM 
SUMMARY
WS NSW has been running a 
highly successful road safety and 
wheelchair basketball program 
throughout schools, Uni ‘s/ TAFE’s, 
community groups and PCYC’s for 
the past 17 years.
Our Roadshow staff present a talk 
to students on road safety and 
the consequences of taking risks, 
disability sport and living with a 
disability.  All of our Roadshow 
presenters have a spinal disability 
through birth or have acquired it 
through an accident or injury.  The 
talk is made more powerful by the 
fact that our presenters can explain 
first-hand what life is like using a 
wheelchair.
The WS NSW Roadshow provides 
an opportunity for WS NSW 
members to gain employment.  We 
have Presenters on our Roadshow 
Team that were born with their 
disability and have grown up 
playing wheelchair sports with 
our organisation.  Our Roadshow 
Program provides Presenters the 
flexibility of continuing with their 
sporting commitments as well as 
casual employment. We also provide 
some stability and confidence for 
our members and allow them to gain 
employment.

CHANGES IN 2017/2018:
During the 2017/2018 we have 
continued to improve the quality of 
the Roadshow program to display 
the professional organisation that 
we are, through the purchase of new 
equipment.
We received wonderful support from 
the Minister for Roads The Hon. 
Melinda Pavey MP and Member for 
Oatley Mark Coure MP with a grant 
of $100,000. This financial support 
provided the Roadshow Program 
with a new Mercedes Sprinter Van as 
well as 8 new basketball wheelchairs 
with Spinergy wheels.
During the year the Roadshow 
Program has had a reduction in 
Roadshow Presenters, which has 
been a challenge when booking 
in schools.  Due to us having 3 
Senior Presenters and 2 Associate 
Presenters, it has affected the ability 
to visit as many schools as previous 
years. We are constantly on the 
outlook for additional Roadshow 
Presenters

NSW REGIONAL SCHOOLS 
VISITED
Marulan Public 
Brindabella Christian College 
Khancoban Public  
Nowra Public 
Belconnen High 
Bombala High
Nambucca Heads High 
St Agnes Primary, Port Macquarie 
Condobolin High 
All Saints College  
St Philomena’s, Bathurst 
Karabar High 
Batlow Technology 
St Joseph’s Primary, Port Macquarie 
Gundagai High 
Coraki Public 
Hastings Secondary College 
Cape Byron Rudolf Steiner 
Eugowra Public St Joseph’s 
Catholic Canobolas Tech High 
Bedgerabong Public 
James Sheahan Catholic 
Forbes High 
Zig Zag Public 
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Member for Oatley Mark Coure MP with senior WS NSW Roadshow presenters 
Brendon Talbott and Rick Engles



OTHER GROUPS VISITED
BStreetsmart Forum
Northern Sydney Guides
3 Bridges Community
Goulburn Space Expo 
Australian Paralympic Committee
Twilight Sports Program
Essential Energy
Cobham Juvenile Justice
Dept. of Premiers / Invictus
1st Turramurra Rovers
2nd Normanhurst Rovers
Netball NSW
Macarthur Disability Services

 » Roadshow Team Meetings: To meet with all staff on a 
regular basis to discuss improvements, fresh ideas and 
marketing plans for the Roadshow Program.

 » Roadshow Staff Training: To arrange one training 
session per year for all Roadshow Presenters to 
improve on their presentation skills and learn more 
about child psychology.  Transport for NSW will be 
sending a representative to speak on their road safety 
messages to include in our Roadshow Presentations.  

 » Equipment: To receive enough funding to purchase 
6 new basketball wheelchairs for the Program to 
complete the upgrade of chairs.

 » Staff:  To source at least 2 more Roadshow Presenters 
to join the team.  

ROADSHOW BOOKING STATISTICS FOR 1/4/2015 TO 31/3/2018

Statistics 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018
Total number of visits to schools 182 223 27
Total number of visits to universities and TAFE 6 3 2
Total number of visits to PCYC’s 11 5 3
Total number of visits to community groups/corp 41 32 19
Total Roadshow Presentations 240 263 231

Total number of presentations in regional NSW 41 36 33
Total number of regions visited 13 10 10

Number of Roadshow Presenters 8 7 5

    

GOALS FOR 2018/2019
 » Marketing: To increase promotional material through 

emails to schools and community groups throughout 
NSW.

To distribute Transport for NSW marketing material 
at all schools visited to provide students with current 
road safety messages.

 » Sydney and Regional Schools: To increase our number 
of new school bookings, as well as maintaining existing 
schools re-booking.

To encourage bookings with Regional schools in 
locations that we have not had the chance to visit, and 
create week-long trips to these regions.
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WS NSW Roadshow Community engagement for the Invictus Games on Australia Day

“The program (WS NSW Roadshow) was one of our most strongly applauded 
and highly recommended activities of last year and we greatly appreciate it!”

Australian Refugee Volunteers



SPORTS PROGRAMS

Women 1500m 
1st Madi De Rozario, 2nd Angie Ballard 
3rd Eliza Ault-Connell, 4th Jemima 
Moore 
Australian All School Junior 
Championships, SOPAC, March 2018
U16 Girls (Multi class)
Sarah Clifton Bligh competed in 
the 100m, 200m, 400m, 800m and 
1500m

BASKETBALL
Basketball Australia Hall of Fame 
Induction: Troy Sachs OAM
Basketball Athlete of the Year: Brett 
Stibners OAM
Team of the Year: Roller Hawks
Encouragement Award: Taitum 
Brown
NSW Juniors Honourable Mention: 
Ben Meoli
International representation
• Michael Auprince, Luke 

Pople, Brett Stibners – Gold 
at 2017 IWBF Asia Oceania 
Championships

• Annabelle Lindsay, Georgia 
Munro-Cook, Hannah Dodd – 
Silver at 2017 IWBF Asia Oceania 
Championships and Bronze at 
2018 Osaka Cup

Country Cup, August 2017
The weekend attracted 67 players 
from all across NSW and even 
from NZ to make up 9 teams. Jaimz 

ATHLETICS
Athletics Athlete of the Year: 
Madison De Rozario
Coach of the Year: Louise Sauvage 
OAM
Volunteer of the Year: Laura 
Brienesse
World Para Athletics Championships 
London 2017 
Men’s 1500m T54
6th Kurt Fearnley 
10th Jake Lappin 
Men’s 5000m T54
6th Kurt Fearnley 
Women’s 100m T53
2nd Angie Ballard
Women’s 200m T53
2nd Angie Ballard
Women’s 1500m T54
3rd Madi De Rozario 
5th Angela Ballard 
10th Jemima Moore
Women’s 5000m T54
1st Madi De Rozario 

Greg Luff Triple Gold at Junior World 
Championships
Greg Luff represented WS NSW and 
Australia at the inaugural IPC Junior 
World Championships, Nottwil, 
Switzerland. The event brought 
together some of the world’s best 
junior para athlete talent to compete 
against one another. 
Greg Luff was one of 12 Australian 
athletes selected to make the trip, 
and competed alongside other 
up and coming Wheelchair racers 
Sam Rizzo (T54/Vic) and Nathan 
Donaldson (T34/Qld)
Greg’s successes came in the 100m, 
200m and 400m, taking out Gold in 
all three and also coming away with 
three PB’s. 
Sydney 10: Sydney Olympic Park, 
May 2017
1st Luke Bailey, 2nd Greg Luff, 3rd Julie 
Charlton  
Sydney Half Marathon, Elite 
Wheelchair 2.5km Sprint, May 2017
1st Richard Nicholson, 2nd Gregory 
Luff                   

2017 Greater Bank Sydney Half 
Marathon, September 2017 
1st Luke Bailey 
2017 City2Surf, August 2017 
1st Kurt Fearnley  
Fernleigh 15, Adamstown NSW 
October 2017 
1st Rheed McCracken 
Athletics Australia All Schools 
Championships, December 2017, 
Sydney 
U16 Girls
200m/800m  1st Sarah Clifton-Bligh 
NSW Open, U23 & Para 
Championships
Open Women 
100m, 200m, 400m and 800m
1st Sarah Clifton Bligh, 2nd Emily 
Preketes Ashley        
Open Men
100m, 200m and 400m
1st Gregory Luff, 2nd Jason Lachance  
Open Men
800m, 1500m   1st Gregory Luff 
NSW Junior Championships, 
February 2018
Sarah Clifton Bligh competed in the 
100m, 200m, 400m, 800m 
Julie Charlton competed in the 
1500m  
Athletics Australia National 
Championships February 2018
Men 100m 
1st Rheed McCracken T34 
Men 1500m T54
1st Jake Lappin, 2nd Kurt Fearnley 

Gregory Luff at the 2017 IPC Junior World Championships.
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Knight from the NSW Junior’s team 
was the recipient of the Brendon 
Talbott Encouragement Award. Tano 
Bagnato from Coffs Coast was the 
leading point scorer on 83, while the 
MVP award went to James Williams 
from Illawarra Hawks.
Final standings: 
1st Illawarra Eagles, 2nd Coffs Coast
3rd Canberra Chargers
All Star 5: 
James Williams  Jess Cronje
Liam Luff  Dylan Braan
Steven Evans

Top End Slam Down Under 
MASTERS, October 2017
4 teams (21 players) from an all NSW 
line up took to the court for the over 
40’s exclusive tournament. The Old 
School Wheel Kings from Sydney 
took out trophy after two days of 
round-robin competition.
Top End Slam Down Under, October 
2017
14 teams made up of 90 players 
took to the courts at Shellharbour 
City Stadium. The tournament 
attracted significant media interest 
and spectators over the weekend, 
including a visit from the local State 
member for Kiama, Gareth Ward. 
The MP and disability advocate 
has been supporting wheelchair 
basketball in the southern region for 
some years, and even jumped in a 
chair himself to have a go in the local 

Eagles, 3rd Sutherland
All-star 5:
Liam Luff      Maxine Belling
Steven Evans      Reg Lindsay
Dylan Braan (Player of the 
tournament)
Women’s Festival of Wheelchair 
Basketball, March 2018
19 women travelled from New 
Zealand, Gold Coast, Newcastle, 
Canberra, Wollongong, and all across 
Sydney to take part in the country’s 
only female exclusive wheelchair 
basketball event. The age range 
across the teams spread from 15 to 
67, with the winning team Farrell, 
remaining undefeated and taking out 
the final 42-23.
Emerging Glider Award: Daisy 
Eaglesome (NZ)
Lisa Edmonds Spirit of the Game 
Award: Jess Cronje (NSW Juniors)
National Wheelchair Basketball 
League
Wollongong Roller Hawks finished 
the 2017 season on top of the ladder, 
with Sydney Metro Blues coming in 
3rd.
Women’s National Wheelchair 
Basketball League
NSW teams dominated in the 2017 
Women’s League, with Sydney Metro 
Blues taking out the title and Sydney 
University Flames coming in 2nd.

celebrity match on the Saturday.
Div 1 
1st Roller Hawks Black, 2nd Wheel 
Kings, 3rd Roller Hawks White
All-star 5:
Nick Taylor Craig Cannane
Clay Kelly Rick Engles
Brad Fisher

Div 2
1st Victorian Vipers, 2nd Frenchville 
Rockwheelers, 3rd Coffs Harbour/
QLD Maroon
All-star 5:
Jess Cronje       Patrick McKay
Jason Holohan       Daniel Anstey
Louis Richards

Div 3
1st Illawarra Hawks, 2nd Illawarra 

2018 Women’s Festival of Wheelchair Basketball

NSW Juniors at the 2017 Country Cup
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FENCING
Wheelchair fencing was included as 
part of the program during the 2017 
Junior Wheelie’s Christmas Camp.  
Run by Fencing NSW Participation 
Manager Caitlin Taylor and her team, 
the exciting activity was received 
with great success. 30 participants 
(kids and volunteers alike) gave 
wheelchair fencing a go, including 
WS NSW ambassador and NRL star, 
Bryan Fletcher.

HANDCYCLING
Handcycling Athlete of the Year: 
Emilie Miller
UCI World Championships 
Pietermaritzburg South Africa, 
August 2017 
Emilie Miller and Grant Nickel 
both represented Australia at 
the 2017 UCI ParaCycling World 
Championships in South Africa. 
Frustratingly for Emilie she again 
had no one to compete against 
and was the only H1 female at the 
Championships. By default this 
meant Emilie won both the time 
trial and the road race, but knowing 
Emilie she will be hungry for more 
competition at this level. Credit must 
go to her for the work she continues 
to put in and the sacrifices she 
makes, with National selection being 
an indicator of her hard work. 
Grant competed against a strong 
field and was able to work out a 4th 
place finish in the Men’s H1 Time 
trial and 6th in the Road race. 
Spring Cycle Criterium, Sydney 
Olympic Park, October 2017
Another barmy day out at Sydney 
Olympic Park saw the WS NSW 
handcyclists again take part in the 
Spring Cycle Criterium, organized 
by Bicycle NSW and the Lidcombe 
Auburn Cycling Club. 
8 riders took their place on the 
start line with Gary Foley giving the 
starting orders. In a neck and neck 
battle, rookie Brian Gardner showed 
the rewards of all the hard work he 

LAWN BOWLS
Lawn Bowls Player of the Year: 
Jamie Reynolds
WS NSW Singles Classic, Mingara 
Bowling Club April 2017.  
The 3 day Singles Classic brought 
together some of the best male and 
female Multi-disability bowlers in 
NSW, with players travelling from as 
far as Grafton, Temora and Finley. A 
number of new faces made their WS 
NSW “debut”, with special mentions 
going to Penrith BC’s Phil Plackett 
and Nathan Pentecost, and eventual 
winner Ron Mowday (Ettalong BC).
The 2017 edition was run as an open 
competition with women bowlers 
all competing against their male 
counterparts. 
1st Ron Mowday (Ettalong BC)
2nd Mark Whiteman (Mayfield West)
3rd Jo Hunter (Gymea)
4th  Doug Lambert (Park Beach)
MultiBowl National Championships 
Clearview Bowling Club, Adelaide- 
May 2017. 
“50 participants and managers from 
across six states participated in the 
event. 
NSW was fortunate to be able to 
bring 10 team members with them 
and for 3 team members namely 
Geoff Roberts, Sue Holbert and 

SPORTS PROGRAMS cont.

has been putting in, staying with 
the experienced Ron Gibson and 
eventually pipping Ron on the last 
lap. Notable mentions must also go 
to Albert Lee returning after a couple 
of year’s hiatus, as well as Ricky 
Smalls and Bilal Yassine, both taking 
part in their first Criterium Race. 
There was also a welcome return  for 
Kevin Geddes, who impressed for his 
first outing in a number of years. 
Big thanks must go to Gary Foley 
for his assistance as well as the staff 
at Bicycle NSW and the Lidcombe 
Auburn Club.
National Paracycling 
Championships, Ballarat, January 
2018 
Following on from her trip to South 
Africa in August 2017, Emilie Miller 
again showed her determination 
and commitment by competing 
in the 2018 National Paracycling 
Championships in Ballarat. Selecting 
to compete only in the road race, 
Miller again took home the Women’s 
H1 crown. 
Others rides members have taken 
part in 
2017 Coffs Classic Cycle Challenge
2017 Bowral Classic 
2017 Singleton Mail Run 
2017 NSW XC State Championships
2017 Killarney Bike Classic

Bilal Yassine in blue and Ricky Smalls at the Spring Cycle Criterium, Sydney Olympic Park
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myself to compete for the first time 
at a national level.  
Congratulations must go to the 
women’s pair’s team of Cheryl 
Benbow and Joanne Hunter who 
came away with the silver medal and 
to Geoff Roberts who was awarded 
the Encouragement Award, a new 
player who participated as a positive 
member of the team, showed 
potential and encouraged fellow 
teammates.  South Australia won the 
overall shield for the week.
Thanks also to Bryce Williams 
as team manager, Mark Wilson 
and Shaun Fitzgibbon for the 
organisation leading up to the 
competition. Finally thanks to my 
teammates for making my first 
experience at a national level an 
enjoyable one and one where I got to 
learn both on the green as well as off 
the green.”
(WS NSW Member and Lawn Bowler 
Michelle Campbell)
Notable NSW Results
Clover Lester Encouragement 
Award: Geoff Roberts
Women’s Pairs Silver: Joanne 
Hunter/Cheryl Benbow
Team Manager
Bryce Williams

Mens Singles
1. J. Reynolds
2. J. Sigsworth
3. M.Hannan
Womens Singles
1. J. Hunter
2. C. Benbow 
3. M. Campbell
WS NSW Singles Classic, Raymond 
Terrace Bowling Club,  February 
2018.
Open Singles
1. R. Wood 
2. R. Mowday
3. G. Seton

POWERLIFTING
Australian Para Powerlifting 
Championships, Gold Coast, October 
2017
5 WS NSW lifters made the trip to 
compete in the event held at the 
same venue as the Para Powerlifting 
competition to be held at Gold Coast 
2018 Commonwealth Games. 
The final opportunity for Australasia 
based athletes to be classified and 
obtain a recognised qualification 
standard lift for the Commonwealth 
Games, the competition also 
provided a number of athletes with 
their first taste of competition and 
an opportunity to compete at a 
World Para Powerlifting sanctioned 
event.   

Competitors
Geoff Seton  
Gilbert Hicks
Jim Sigsworth  
Geoff Roberts
Doug Lambert  

2017 WS NSW ParaPower Sydney event

2017 WS NSW Singles Classic, Mingara Bowling Club
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Ryan Wood
Jo Hunter 
Cheryl Benbow
Michelle Campbell
Sue Holbert

WS NSW State Championships, 
Milton Ulladulla Bowling Club, 
August 2017 
Open Pairs
1. R. Mowday/P.Plackett
2. J.Sigsworth/D.Lambert
3. M.Hannan/J.Reynolds



Canberra Classic, supported by the 
Vikings Group, March 2018
In March 2018, WS NSW played 
host to Wheelchair Rugby players 
from across the country (and even 
Indonesia) in the inaugural Canberra 
Classic. 
With the support of Vikings Group 
and QHDC, WS NSW invited players 
from all over to come together for 3 
days of mixed competition. With a 
focus on development, teams were 
mixed throughout with state rivalries 
put to one side and rugby put as the 
focus. 
All Star 4: Made Ratni (Indonesia), 
Chad Graham (NSW), Anthony Gray 
(VIic) and Thomas Klein (Vic). 
Rookie: Luke Matthews (Qld)
MVP: Cameron Whitaker (Qld)

SWIMMING
Athlete of the Year: Matt Levy OAM

TABLE TENNIS
In June 2017, WS NSW Member 
Jessy Chen won the NSW Closed 
Table Tennis Championships.

TENNIS
Wheelchair Tennis Athlete of the 
year: Ben Weekes
Invacare Rising Star Award: Chase 
Burch

SPORTS PROGRAMS cont.

Wheelchair Rugby Rookie of the Year Harry Clist in action in Melbourne
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WS NSW results:  Janel Manns 
(4th Open Womens/58kg), Michael 
Sattin (6th 80kg Men/120kg), Steven 
Henness (7th 80kg/98lg), Richard 
Nicholson (4th 80kg/122kg) and Jamie 
Clarke (No recorded lift) 
ParaPower Series
Through 2017 WS NSW hosted a 
number of ParaPower events aimed 
at boosting the sport of Para-
Powerlifting in NSW. 
Run in Wollongong, Sydney and 
Newcastle, the events made the 
sport accessible to members and 
helped educate those attending 
about the sport and the training and 
technique that comes with it. 
All of the events were a great success 
with good numbers in attendance 
and all learning the nuances of this 
this fantastic sport

RUGBY
Rugby Athlete of the Year: 
Ryley Batt OAM
Rookie of the Year: Harry Clist
Fierce4 Rugby Victorian Challenge, 
April 2017
The second round of the 2017 
Fierce4 Rugby competition took 
place at Caroline Springs Basketball 
Stadium in Melbourne. The event 
saw 4 teams go head to head. 
Alongside NSW were a Queensland 
team and 2 Victorian teams. 
The GIO NSW Gladiators placed 3rd 
for the tournament.
Matt Lewis (VIC) secured MVP, with 
Andrew Edmondson (NSW), Andrew 
Harrison (VIC) and Mick Ozanne 
(QLD) making up the All Star 4.   
Fierce4 Rugby Gold Coast Challenge, 
June 2017
Results
GIO NSW Gladiators v Qld    (55 - 61)
GIO NSW Gladiators v Victoria (54 – 
68)
NZ v GIO NSW Gladiators (55 - 44)
NZ v GIO NSW Gladiators (53 – 44)
Bronze Medal Final
Qld v GIO NSW Gladiators (63 - 61)

2017 GIO FIERCE 4 RUGBY 
NATIONALS SYDNEY
The GIO NSW Gladiators defeated 
the Victoria Protect Thunder (68-
52) to be crowned 2017 National 
Champions. 
In the test event for the 2018 World 
Championships the Gladiators 
defeating Canada for the Bronze 
medal (65-54). 
Victorian Wheelchair Rugby Classic, 
Frankston, November 2017.  
“Leading up to my first Wheelchair 
Rugby Tournament I had been 
putting a lot of work in and learning 
a lot from the boys in the NSW team.  
I had come a long way in a short 
time, which I was happy about, and 
I felt that I was up to the challenge 
when I got asked about heading to 
Melbourne to play my first games.
I started off so nervous that I didn’t 
play very well in the first game at all.  
I expected to do so much better than 
I did because of how I was going at 
training, but I quickly realised it was 
a lot different, but I was still learning.  
The more I played the better I felt 
and everyone was so helpful which 
made it easier. The Tournament was 
a very big learning curve for me and 
can’t wait for the next one.”
(Chad Graham, member of the WS 
NSW wheelchair rugby development 
program)



International Representation:
• Keegan Oh Chee, Stephan 

Rochecouste, Helen Smith – 
Perry Perry New Zealand Open, 
Auckland

• Stephan Rochecouste – Orbit 
One Canterbury Championships, 
Christchurch

• Stephan Rochecouste – Negombo 
Open, Sri Lanka

• Ben Weekes, Keegan Oh Chee – 
APIA International, Sydney

• Ben Weekes, Keegan Oh 
Chee, Stephan Rochecouste – 
Melbourne Open, Melbourne

• Ben Weekes – Australian Open, 
Melbourne

• Ben Weekes, Keegan Oh Chee, 
Stephan Rochecouste – World 
Team Cup Italy, Sardinia

2017 ITF Futures Canberra 
Wheelchair Tennis Open, September 
2017
The inaugural tournament attracted 
a record draw of 21 players across 
Men’s, Women’s Open and Junior 
divisions. Keegan Oh Chee defeated 
fellow WS NSW member Mick 
Connell to take out the Men’s draw, 
while Janine Watson (Qld)won the 
Women’s draw and Riley Dumsday 
won the Juniors draw.
2017 ITF Futures Metropolitan 
Wheelchair Tennis Open
The 2017 Metro Open drew an 

through for Adam Kellerman, taking 
back-to-back tournament titles in 
the Men’s division. Similarly, Shiori 
Funamizu (JPN) also took out the 
Women’s division for a second 
tournament, as well as taking the top 
prize in the Junior’s division!
Sydney International Wheelchair 
Tennis Open, January 2018
WS NSW members Keegan Oh Chee, 
Ben Weekes and Adam Kellerman 
lined up in the Men’s division against 
players from all across the world, but 
unfortunately didn’t make the finals. 
Shingo Kunieda (JPN) defeated Alfie 
Hewitt  (UK) to take out the title.
Dylan Alcott from Victoria prevailed 
over David Wagner (USA) in the 
Quad finals, while Yui Kamiji (JPN) 
defeated Diede De Groot (NED) in 
the Women’s division.
On the third day of play, WS 
NSW hosted a Wheelchair 
Tennis Community Day as part 
of the tournament. The event 
saw engagement from junior 
players, community disability 
groups, tournament spectators, 
local residents, other local sport 
representatives, and Blacktown 
Council members. Players from 
the tournament took time out of 
their training to assist in coaching 
and mentoring the community, 
and encouraging everyone to try 
wheelchair tennis. 

international contingent, with two 
Japanese players joining the Men’s 
and Women’s divisions. It was an 
all NSW final, with Adam Kellerman 
defeating Keegan Oh Chee. Shiori 
Funamizu (JPN) was very impressive 
in the Women’s division, completing 
the tournament undefeated.
NSW state coach, Kathy Fahim also 
ran a special womens only coaching 
clinic during the tournament.
2017 ITF Futures NSW Wheelchair 
Tennis Open, Wollongong November 
2017
A rain affected tournament in 
Wollongong saw some altered match 
times but the sun eventually shone 

Winners and finalists from the 2017 Canberra Wheelchair Tennis Open

Fun at the 2018 Sydney International Wheelchair Tennis Community Day
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BUILDING STRONGER REGIONS
NORTHERN
The Northern Regional Development 
Officer position has been held by 
Joe Shoebridge since October 2017. 
Joe stepped into the position having 
moved north after finishing his 
university studies with the University 
of Canberra. Joe has been relishing 
his position as he spreads his passion 
for sport and participation across the 
northern regions. 
November 2017 saw the launch 
of the Hunter Track Program 
supported by the Newcastle 
Permanent Charitable Foundation 
(NPCF). NPCF’s partnership includes 
4 new wheelchair racing chairs 
and venue hire for the Fearnley 
Dawes Athletics track each week. 
A member who frequents this 
program is avid handcyclist Mark 
Brown, who says that the weekly 
track meets are an imperative part 
of his fitness schedule. Since linking 
up with WS NSW 6 months ago, 
Mark has been able to increase his 
physical wellbeing, and now has 
goals of competing in handcycling 
competitions across the State. 
Opportunities for our northern 
members to participate in sport 
are greater than ever with the 
introduction of the Northern 
Shootout. The Northern Shootout 
is structured on the same model 
as the Southern Shootout, bringing 
together our regional members for 
a monthly basketball meet. The 
inaugural Northern Shootout was 
held in Coffs Harbour in March 2018 
and saw members from Newcastle, 
Lismore and Coffs Harbour put 
together 3 teams for a great day of 
competition. Lismore, Gosford, Port 
Macquarie, Armidale and Newcastle 
will all host a round of the Northern 
Shootout during the rest of 2018.
Members in North West NSW will 
now have access to 10 new multi 
use sports wheelchairs, to be stored 
at Armidale University. These chairs 
will allow our North West members 
to access consistent sport programs 
without extensive travel to other 

regional hubs such as Newcastle and 
Coffs Harbour. 

HUNTER
Regional Coordinator: 
Stewart Sherman
The Hunter Region continues to 
grow with the addition of the Hunter 
Track Program and a brand new 
adaptive powerlifting bench. With 
the highest member presence across 
the northern regions our Hunter 
members have access to: 
* Wheelchair Basketball every 

Saturday 
* Track Racing and Hand Cycling 

every Wednesday 
* Adaptive powerlifting 
* Social Tennis 
* Social Lawn Bowls 
* Gym access at WS NSW regional 

office upon request 

* The Hunter Disability Sports 
Expo was held at the Newcastle 
Basketball Stadium featuring 14 
wheelchair or adaptive sports

CENTRAL COAST
Regional Coordinator: position open 
Members on the Central Coast 
currently participate in Basketball, 
Powerlifting, Lawn Bowls, Swimming 
and Tennis. Our Central Coast 

members have travelled to Sydney 
for events in the past 12 months, 
as well as north to participate in 
a variety of WS NSW events and 
programs.

MID NORTH COAST (PORT 
MACQUARIE)
Regional Coordinator:
Nathan Peasley
The Mid North Coast currently has 
facilities for Basketball, Tennis, 
Powerlifting, Rugby, Shooting, 
Swimming, Lawn Bowls, Track and 
Hand Cycling.

NORTH COAST (COFFS 
HARBOUR)
Regional Coordinator: 
Ray Munro
The North Coast Region based 
around Coffs Harbour currently has 
access to a large range of wheelchair 
sports including Basketball, Rugby, 
Tennis, Shooting, Hand Cycling, 
Track, Powerlifting, Lawn Bowls and 
Swimming. Events held in the last 
year include: 
• Weekly Basketball Meets
• Weekly Hand Cycling 
• Social Lawn Bowls 
• Shooting 
• Northern Shootout (Basketball) 

2017 Hunter Disability Sports Expo at Newcastle Basketball Stadium
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NORTH WEST (NEW ENGLAND)
Regional Coordinator:
Fiona Sing
The North West has facilities for 
Basketball, Tennis, Hand cycling, 
Track and Rugby. With the addition 
of ten new multi sport chairs to 
Armidale University, our New 
England members will now have 
greater access to sport without 
excessive travel. Events in New 
England included: 
• Weekly Tennis 
• Tamworth Multi Sport Come and 

Try 
• Social Basketball

MID WEST (FORBES)
Regional Coordinator: position open 
The Mid West covers areas such 
as Forbes, Orange and Dubbo. Our 
members in the Mid West have 
facilities for Basketball, Cue Sports, 
Hand-Cycling, Tennis, Lawn Bowls, 
Swimming and Shooting. 

FAR NORTH COAST (LISMORE)
Regional Coordinator: 
Duane Gilmore
The Far North Coast currently has 
facilities for Basketball, Rugby, 
Tennis, Shooting, Hand Cycling, 
Track and Lawn Bowls. Our Lismore 

members have been very active with 
participants involved in WS NSW and 
interstate competitions. Currently 
members in the Far North are able to 
participate in: 
• Weekly Basketball 
• Social Lawn Bowls 
• Tennis 
• Shooting 

Congratulations to our Regional 
Coordinators for a great year in 
the Northern Regions. Without the 
enthusiasm from our coordinators 
the programs that we offer simply 

wouldn’t be possible. Together we 
will continue to develop our sports in 
the North and work to create more 
opportunities for our members. 
Joe Shoebridge 
Regional Sports Development Officer 
(Northern)

SOUTHERN
This year has seen the embedding of 
the Southern Shootout wheelchair 
basketball series across all of the 
regions.  These events have proven 
popular and provided the greatest 
number of regional members 
with the greatest opportunity for 
socialising and competition.  With 6 
Shootouts held across Young, Wagga 
Wagga, Canberra, Griffith, Albury 
and Shellharbour in this reporting 
period all of our southern regional 
hubs have been represented in at 
least three events with an average 
of 19 players per event.  This year 
also saw the return of powerlifting 
to the list of sports members 
can participate in, with a come 
‘n’ try day in Wollongong being 
the first powerlifting action for 5 
years.  This was followed by the 
first of 3 ParaPower events, also in 
Wollongong with 11 competitors (9 
male and 2 female).  Finally, we had 
the first ITF wheelchair tennis event 
held in our nation’s capital with the 

Albury Team at the 2017 Country Cup

Port Macquarie Come’n’Try Basketball Session
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inaugural Canberra Tennis Open.  
This adds to the growing list of 
events being offered in and around 
Canberra.

ILLAWARRA & SOUTH COAST
Regional Coordinator: 
Eino Okkonen
The Illawarra & South Coast has the 
largest regional membership and 
access to facilities to host Archery, 
Basketball, Cue Sports, Fencing, 
Hand-cycling, Lawn Bowls, Power 
Lifting, Rugby, Shooting, Swimming, 
Table Tennis, Tennis and Track & 
Road.
At the elite level highlights have 
included 
• Wollongong RollerHawks 

winning the National Wheelchair 
Basketball League Championship

• International Tennis Federation 
event in Wollongong

On a competitive level
• The 12th annual Top End 

Slam Down Under basketball 
tournament

• The 3rd Top End Slam Down Under 
Masters tournament for the 
over 40’s combining competitive 
basketball in the morning with 
social activities in the afternoon. 

• Multi Disability State Singles and 
Pairs Lawn Bowls Championship

• ParaPower event
Other WS NSW programs, events and 
Come and Try days included
• Development Basketball every 

Wednesday night
• Come ‘n’ Try & beginners 

basketball on Tuesday & Thursday 
nights

• KidzWish Junior member 
basketball every Tuesday 
afternoon

• Southern Shootout X
• Illawarra Disability Sport Family 

Day
The 2nd WS NSW Illawarra Disability 
Sport Family Day, held in February, 
was an opportunity for people with 
a physical disability, along with 

BUILDING STRONGER REGIONS cont.

their families, friends and carers, 
to experience the range of sports 
supported by WS NSW and available 
in the region.  Unfortunately the 
weather took a turn for the worse 
and reduced participation.  However 
the Illawarra and South Coast 
region remained the largest region 
in membership terms and busiest 
region in terms of events and 
participation.

ACT & SURROUNDS
Regional Coordinator: 
Rohan Foy
The ACT & Surrounds has access to 
facilities to host Archery, Basketball, 
Cue Sports, Fencing, Hand-cycling, 
Lawn Bowls, Power Lifting, Rugby, 
Shooting, Swimming, Table Tennis, 
Tennis and Track & Road.
At the elite level highlights have 
included 
• Summer Down Under Canberra 

track meet
• Canberra Open International 

Tennis Federation event
On a competitive level
• Vikings Canberra Classic 

wheelchair rugby competition
Other WS NSW programs, events and 
Come and Try days included
• Basketball every Monday night in 

Canberra
• Basketball every Thursday night 

in Young
• Tennis every Wednesday in 

summer
• Handcycling Come ‘n’ Try
• Southern Shootout VII
This was the first year of the 
International Tennis Federation 
sanctioned wheelchair tennis event, 
the Canberra Open held at the 
Tennis ACT courts in Lynneham.  
There were open men, open women 
and junior events contested.  This 
event also included a Come ‘n’ Try 
and was the catalyst for a twighlight 
tennis program at North Woden in 
Canberra throughout the summer.

RIVERINA
Regional Coordinator: 
Phil Pellow
The Riverina region based around 
Wagga Wagga has access to facilities 
to host Basketball, Cue Sports, 
Fencing, Hand-cycling, Lawn Bowls, 
Rugby, Shooting, Swimming, Table 
Tennis and Track & Road.
WS NSW programs, events and Come 
and Try days included
• Basketball every Wednesday night
• Southern Shootout VI
Unfortunately membership in 
this region has fallen with some 

2017 Albury Southern Shootout - Young team v Border Junior team
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members moving out of the area 
and other concentrating their energy 
elsewhere.  But with basketball still 
available, and some committed 
families, hopefully it won’t be long 
before this region bounces back. 

BORDER
Regional Coordinator: 
Dennis Ramsay
The Border region based around 
Albury/Wodonga has access to 
facilities to host Archery, Basketball, 
Cue Sports, Hand-cycling, Lawn 
Bowls, Rugby, Shooting, Swimming, 
Table Tennis, Tennis and Track & 
Road.
WS NSW programs, events and Come 
and Try days included
• Basketball every Saturday 

morning
• Basketball every Saturday 

afternoon since February
• Southern Shootout IX
The Border basketball program has 
grown to 2 venues with Wodonga 

Wheelchair Rugby Canberra Classic

Leisure Centre hosting Saturday 
morning training and, since February, 
Lauren Jackson Stadium in Albury 
hosting Saturday afternoon sessions.  
Membership has been stable after 
the phenomenal growth of almost 
150% last year.   The addition of 
Wednesday afternoon training in 
Wodonga this coming year should 
see even greater participation on the 
border.

SOUTH WEST
Regional Coordinators:
Peter Woodward & Simon Kirkman
The South West region based around 
Griffith has access to facilities to host 
Archery, Basketball, Cue Sports, Lawn 
Bowls, Rugby and Swimming.
WS NSW programs, events and Come 
and Try days included
• Southern Shootout VIII
• Basketball Come ‘n’ Try
Unfortunately the basketball 
program in Griffith has had to be 

shut down due to lack of interest 
by members in the area.  We will 
continue to support our South West 
regional members encourage them 
to remain engaged in the activities 
available in the region, and all WS 
NSW activities and initiatives.
A huge thank you to all the southern 
regional coordinators.  Their tireless 
effort in providing opportunities 
and information to members and 
potential members in their regions 
is essential to the provision of WS 
NSW activities in regional NSW 
and much appreciated by all at WS 
NSW.  Much has been achieved in 
my third year as Regional Sports 
Development Officer (Southern) but 
there are still plenty of opportunities 
to explore in the year ahead.Officer 
(Southern) but there are still plenty 
of opportunities to explore in the 
year ahead.

Todd Parker
Regional Sports Development Officer 
(Southern)

“ Happy to say that everybody from Young had an awesome afternoon 
(wheelchair basketball shoot-out). It might sound a bit weird, however it is 

starting to feel like I am part of a second family.”

Bruce Mason (regional WS NSW member)
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FUNDRAISING
We gratefully acknowledge our 
loyal and generous supporters who 
have continued to contribute to the 
work of WS NSW over the last year. 
Without their generosity, we simply 
couldn’t provide programs and 
services to our members.  Likewise, 
it is only through the willingness of 
our members to share their personal 
experiences that motivates the 
community to lend their support. 
Our heartfelt thanks to you all.

GOLF DAY
Our annual golf day moved to a 
new location which proved to be a 
popular decision. We had a record 
crowd and a record result – raising 
over $25,000 from the day. 
Congratulations to Gary Dawson and 
Matt Laverty from Charity Challenge 
for their expertise in ensuring the 
smooth running of the day.
Our heartfelt thanks to our event 
sponsors Stacks Goudkamp for 
their magnificent support of this 
event. Thanks also to the drinks cart 
sponsor GIO and our hole sponsors, 
Pro IT, Stacks Finance, Tabasco and 
AMP Advice. 

ANNUAL LUNCHEON
With our event sponsors ClubsNSW 
we enjoyed another fabulous 
afternoon hearing from our 
members and their sporting 
experiences. The luncheon was 
compared by Jim Callinan from Sky 

News who commentates at the GIO 
Oz Day 10K. The event featured an 
interview with an array of members 
at different stages in wheelchair 
tennis and included David Hall OAM, 
Adam Kellerman, Helen Smith and 
junior Chase and his mum. 
Once again we sincerely thank our 
sponsors for this event - Clubs NSW, 
Gold sponsors Escentials Brands and 
Ray White Group, and supporting 
sponsors Tradies, SG Fleet and Ryde-
Eastwood Leagues Club. The event 
raised substantial funds to help the 
many sports programs and services 
for our members across NSW. 

RACE DAY
This year WS NSW joined forces with 
the ASX Thompson Reuters Charity 
Foundation Race Day at Rosehill. WS 
NSW was one of 27 charities to be 
selected as a beneficiary of this huge 
race day.  We were well represented 
with our supporters taking 11 tables 
which improved our share of the 
proceeds of the day.  

AMBASSADORS
Throughout the year, our 
Ambassadors have been working 
with us to help our cause and getting 
along to some of our events. 
Both Bryan Fletcher and Alex 
Blackwell came along to the Junior 
Wheelie Christmas Camp and got 
involved in all the activities on offer. 
They supported us on social media 

and Bryan also came along to the 
golf day and recruited a number 
of teams to join us as well which 
contributed to our record result. 
We thank both Alex and Bryan for 
their commitment to our cause and 
the wonderful contribution they are 
making. 
Of late 2 new Ambassadors in 
Belinda Green (former Miss World) 
and her husband Steve Mason have 
come on board. We look forward to 
great input from Belinda and Steve

GRANTS
As a recipient of a number of 
ClubGRANTS, we were able to 
channel funds into a variety of 
programs and services for our 
members across NSW. We thank all 
those clubs who supported us over 
the last financial year through these 
grants.
Thanks to the Newcastle Permanent 
Charitable Foundation (we received 
funding from the Foundation for 
the first time), we were able us to 
start a wheelchair track racing and 
handcycling program in Newcastle.
The Cauliflower Club have also 
contributed significantly to our 
organisation again this year which 
has enabled us to purchase more 
sports wheelchairs for our programs 
and another trailer for our Northern 
region.

COMMUNITY FUNDRAISING
Once again we are in awe of those 
individuals who cycle, run, play golf 
and create their own fundraising 
events to raise funds for WS NSW. 
We wish to make special mention 
of Paul Muir, who once again raised 
an incredible amount of money 
by running multiple marathons 
throughout the year. These crusaders 
for our cause are amazing and we 
are truly grateful for their devotion 
to support our members to have 
access to sport. 

PHILANTHROPY
We respect the privacy of all 
individuals who give so generously to 
our organisation through donations 

SOLUTIONS FOR A CHANGING WORLD

SPONSORS AND PARTNERS OF FUNDRAISING EVENTS
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to our appeals, regular automatic 
deductions, workplace giving, 
bequests and various other means. 
These generous individuals wish to 
remain anonymous and thank we 
them for their generosity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
We would like to recognise the 
following organisations for their 
generous support over the last 12 
months:
ASX Thomson Reuters Charity 
Foundation
Bowlers Club at 99 on York
Bowls NSW
Charity Challenge
Canada Bay Club
Chatswood RSL Club
City of Sydney RSL & Community 
Club Ltd
Club Marconi
ClubsNSW
Commercial Club Albury
Desert Duel
Dooleys Catholic Club
Earlwood-Bardwell Park R S L
Escentials Pty Ltd
Fairbridge Foundation
Gladesville RSL & Community Club
Goldman Sachs Gives
Guildford Leagues Club / CDSE Local 
Committee
Henry Sports Club Ltd
Lions Club of Bondi
Milton Ulladulla ExServos Club Ltd
Mollymook Golf Club
Mounties Group
Newcastle Permanent Charitable 
Foundation
North Ryde RSL Community Club Ltd
Ryde Eastwood Leagues Club
South Sydney Junior Rugby League 
Club Ltd
Stacks Goudkamp
Suncorp
Sussex Inlet RSL Club
The Cauliflower Club
The Westport Club
Tradies
Wenty Leagues

WS NSW Ambassador Bryan Fletcher (far right) and his team at the 2017 Stacks Goudkamp 
Charity Golf Day

David Hall OAM, Adam Kellerman, Helen Smith and Chase Burch, the athlete panel at the 
2017 WS NSW Annual Luncheon
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KEVIN BETTS STADIUM 
2017-2018 saw a full year under 
Matthew Wilkinson as the new 
Stadium Manager, with a lot of 
exciting events and new faces in 
the stadium. A lot of upgrades were 
added to the stadium and a fresh 
coat of paint on the grandstands, as 
well as a new floor polishing product 
that really gives our users a brighter 
feel as they come through the doors. 
A ever growing relationship with the 
Sydney Kings and other local and 
State wide organisations ensure the 
new years programs and support is 
growing rapidly.

DISABILITY SPORT
2017/18 continued our relationships 
with NSW Push & Power, NSW Power 
Football, NSW Power Hockey, WS 
NSW Basketball & NEWS as well as 
seeing the Australian Paralympic 
Gold Medallists the wheelchair rugby 
“Steelers” in action as they took on 
Canada in a 3 game day event. The 
NSW Power Football Nationals were 
also held in January 2018 over 7 
days.

BASKETBALL
Our Local & Representative 
Basketball programs continue to 
grow. Our local Senior & Junior 
competitions are at a capacity level 
with the new courtside systems 
provided by BNSW. The positive 
vibe around these comps with 
easily accessible competition detail, 
ladders, fixtures and stats made it 
enjoyable for all. Our Representative 
teams have grown now boasting 7 
junior teams in the Waratah Junior 
Competition, and 2 in the senior 
competition which have teams 
traveling now from all over NSW.

EVENTS
The first ever 2 night Bollywood 
event hit KBS in September which 
was a spectacle in itself. Over 5,000 
people coming through the stadium 
and dancing the night away to the 
sounds of an international Bollywood 
artist and his band. This Event has 

already been booked again for this 
year.
This year saw an NCAA (American 
college team) the TCU Horned 
Frogs come and take on the Local 
Savannah Pride Sudanese basketball 
team in a preseason college warm 
up games which had 500+ local 
basketball fan enjoying the action.
The Rooty Hill Batton Twirling 
Nations joined us again and have 
already secured the stadium for this 
years national championships. Also 

the Mt Druitt Town Rangers futsal 
team season got underway and 
finished up in a successful season for 
them.
2018 also saw the return of Western 
Suburbs Basketball Association 
(WSBA) basketball league utilising 
the facilities every Sunday as well 
as their annual tournaments and 
training sessions.
Matthew Wilkinson
Manager | Kevin Betts Stadium

Bollywood event at Kevin Betts Stadium

Upgrades to the Stadium including floor polish and painted stands

Images contained in this document have been kindly provided by Serena Corporate Photography, 
William A Stewart FAPS, AFIAP and Wheelchair Sports NSW members.
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Your committee members submit the financial report of Wheelchair Sports NSW Incorporated for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2018.

Committee Members

The names of committee members throughout the year and at the date of this report are:

• David Piper OAM (resigned 26 June 2017)
• Angela Ballard (resigned 26 June 2017)
• Craig Jarvis
• Colin Roden 
• George Bogdanovic (appointed 24 July 2017)

WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938

COMMITTEE’S REPORT

ii

• Chris Nicholls 
• Di Pass
• Jason Preston
• Brendon Talbott
• Sarah Stewart (appointed 24 July 2017)

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the association during the financial year was:

• The development, promotion and delivery of wheelchair sport in New South Wales.

Significant Changes

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

Operating Results

The surplus amounted to $293,881.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Members of the Committee.

Jason Preston       Brendon Talbott
Chair of Committee      Committee Member

Dated this  1st day of June 2018    Dated this  1st day of June 2018



WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, for the year ended 31 March 
2018, there have been no contraventions of;

a) the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charites and Not-for-profits 
Commissions Act 2012 in relation to audit; and

b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit

Name of Firm:  Thomas GLC
   Chartered Accountants

 
Name of Partner: Glenn McEwen

Dated this 1st day of  June 2018
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WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

     
                    2018   2017
               NOTE        $      $

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

iv

Revenue and other income
Revenue
Other income

Expenditure
Employee benefits expenses
Direct fundraising expense
Major sporting events expense
Stadium program expense
Sporting activities expense
Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Sporting grants expense
Cost of sales
Other expenses

Current year surplus/(deficit) before income tax

Income tax expense

Net current year (deficit) / surplus

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Net current year (deficit) surplus attributable to members of the entity

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the entity

2,590,597
15,000

2,605,597

(948,879
(139,558
(335,977
(201,719
(185,334
(172,637

(45,621
(40,390

(241,601

293,881

-

293,881

293,881

293,881

293,881

2
2

3

2,149,851
255

2,150,106

(908,171
(177,183
(202,499
(175,565
(188,924
(131,499

(93,931
(38,069

(296,967

(62,702

-

(62,702

-

(62,702

(62,702

(62,702

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

)

)
  

)

)

)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)



The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

                    

             2018   2017
       NOTE                   $       $

v

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivables and other debtors
Inventories on hand
Other current assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payables and other payables
Provision for employee benefits
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained surplus
TOTAL EQUITY

4
5
6
7

8

9
10

427,842
69,592

6,957
263,740
768,131

709,921
709,921

1,478,052

667,822
113,256
781,078

781,078

696,974

696,974
696,974

635,750
125,660

3,650
185,506
950,566

421,351
421,351

1,371,917

855,614
113,210
968,824

968,824

403,093

403,093
403,093



WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Balance at 1 April 2016

Comprehensive income
Net (deficit)/surplus for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the entity

Balance at 31 March 2017
Balance at 1 April 2017
Comprehensive income
Net surplus for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income attributable to members of the entity

Balance at 31 March 2018

465,795

(62,702
-

(62,702

403,093
403,093

293,881
-

293,881

696,974

465,795

(62,702
-

(62,702

403,093
403,093

293,881
-

293,881

696,974

Retained 
Surplus

$

Total 
Equity

$

)

)

)

)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from members and customers and donors
Receipts from sponsorships and grants 
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for Property, Plant & Equipment
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
Cash at the beginning of the year
Cash at the end of the year

1,275,659
1,203,240

(2,253,258
12,658

238,299

15,000
(461,207
(446,207

(207,908
635,750
427,842

)

)
)

)

1,534,404
580,426

(2,064,837
15,557

-
65,550

16,000
(147,169
(131,169

(65,619
701,369
635,750

)

)
)

)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

                2018       2017
             NOTE           $           $



WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
Wheelchair Sports NSW Incorporated. applies the Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements and other applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards –Reduced Disclosure Requirements  
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.  The association is a not-for-profit entity for financial 
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial 
statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are presented below and have been consistently applied 
unless stated otherwise.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based 
on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest 
dollar.
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 1 June 2018 by the members of the committee.
Accounting Policies
(a)  Income Tax

The association is exempt from income tax under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 as amended.
(b) Revenue and Other Income

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of the goods to the customer. Revenue from rendering 
of service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the profit or loss when the association obtains control of the grant and 
it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the association and the amount of the 
grant can be measured reliably.  
If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the contribution, the 
recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.
When grant revenue is received whereby the association incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly back 
to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in the statement 
of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant is 
recognised as income on receipt.
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective rate method, which for floating rate financial assets is the rate 
inherent in the instrument.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(c) Inventories on Hand
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
In the event the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, 
the carrying amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are 

vii



WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED
ABN 81 827 767 938

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

viii

recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A 
formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including leasehold improvements, is depreciated on a straight line basis 
over the asset’s useful life commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset  Depreciation Rate
Leasehold improvements 2.5% – 10%
Plant and Equipment   10% – 33%
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or 
losses are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

(e) Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments.  For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the association commits itself to either 
purchase or sell the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).  Financial instruments are initially measured at fair 
value plus transaction costs except where the instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit and loss’, in which 
case transaction costs are expensed to profit and loss immediately. 
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value (see note (m)), amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method or cost.  
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation 
of the difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for the purpose 
of short-term profit taking, where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated 
as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is 
managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management 
or investment strategy.  Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value (ie gains and 
losses) being recognised in profit or loss.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments, and it is the association’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.  They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(e) Financial Instruments (cont.)
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired.  In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value 
of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.  Impairment losses are recognised 
in the profit or loss.  Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified to profit or loss at this point.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the association no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are 
either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability which is 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-
cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(f) Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the association reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 
asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Income 
Statement.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the association estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(g) Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the association’s obligation for short-term employee benefits.  Short-term employee benefits 
are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end 
of the annual reporting period in which employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick 
leave.  Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 
obligation is settled.
The association’s obligation for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are recognised 
as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.
Other long-term employee benefits
The association classifies employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements as other long-term employee 
benefits as they are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period 
in which the employees render the related service.  Provision is made for the association’s obligation for other long-
term employee benefits, which are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to 
employees.  Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net change in the 
obligation is recognised in profit or loss classified under employee benefits expense.
The association’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current liabilities in its statement 
of financial position, except where the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period, in which the obligations are presented as current liabilities.

(h) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured



(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(j) Comparative Figures
Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

(k) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised at part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial 
position are shown inclusive of GST. 

(l) Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The committee evaluates estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and 
are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the association.
Key estimates – Impairment
The association assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the association 
that may lead to impairment of assets.  When an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
determined.  Fair value less costs to sell or current replacement cost calculations performed in assessing recoverable 
amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.

(m) Fair value of Assets and Liabilities
The entity measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, 
depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.
"Fair value" is the price the entity would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in 
an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the 
measurement date.
As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to 
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific 
asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of 
observable market data.
To the extent possible, market information is extracted from the principal market for the asset or liability (ie the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability). In the absence of such a market, 
market information is extracted from the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the 
reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments 
made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and transport costs).
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant's ability to use the 
asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and 
best use.
The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity instruments (if any) may be valued, where there is no observable 
market price in relation to the transfer of such financial instrument, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are 
adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial statements.
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2. Revenue and other income
Revenue
Sales Revenue:

Sale of goods – Stadium canteen

Other revenue
Fundraising – gifts appeal
Fundraising – donations
Fundraising – Events
Sponsorships and grants
Kevin Betts Stadium unit
Major events entry fee
Roadshow program
Membership fees
Interest received
Other 

Total revenue

Other income
Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment

3. Profit
Expenses
Bad and doubtful debts
Depreciation
Interest expense
Rental expense on operating leases
Superannuation expense

4. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Term deposits

                   2018             2017
           $    $
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58,349

511,086
45,092

224,268
1,203,681

309,139
30,584
85,612

9,862
12,295

100,629
2,532,248
2,590,597

15,000

-
172,637

-
30,471
91,028

2,221
75,621

350,000
427,842

62,569

610,150
75,408

272,250
561,805
317,111

48,371
84,754
11,644
15,378
90,411

2,087,282
2,149,851

255

(4,000
131,499

-
31,817
96,055

1,321
209,429
425,000
635,750

)



          2018      2017   
             $         $

xii

5. Accounts receivables and other debtors

Current
Accounts Receivables
Less: provision for impairment

GST receivable
Other receivable

Provision for impairment of receivables
Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:
Opening balance
- Charge for the year
- Written back of provision
Closing balance at year end

 

6. Inventories on hand

Current
Stock on Hand – at cost

7. Other current assets

Louise Sauvage Foundation Cheque account
Ashley Coops BEM Trust Cheque account
Accrued income
Prepayments

Financial assets classified as other current assets:
Louise Sauvage Foundation Cheque account
Ashley Coops BEM Trust Cheque account
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55,345
(3,000
52,345
11,039

6,208
69,592

3,000
-
-

3,000

6,957

18,332
104,048

68,656
72,704

263,740

18,332
104,048
122,380

)
117,933

(3,000
114,933

1,883
8,844

125,660

7,000
-

(4,000
3,000

3,650

18,313
103,902

26,900
36,391

185,506

18,313
103,902
122,215

)

)



8. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated Amortisation

Plant and equipment
At cost
Accumulated Depreciation

Total property, plant and equipment
 
 
Movements in carrying amounts    
Movement in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of 
the current financial year:

269,125
(267,539

1,586

959,586
(539,821
419,765

421,351

xiii
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               2018                       2017
                        $    $
     

)

)

562,202
(297,137
265,065

1,060,841
(615,985
444,856

709,921

)

)

Balance at 31 March 2017
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense

Carrying amount at 31 March 2018

1,586
293,077

-
(29,598

265,065

Leasehold 
Improvements

$

) )

419,765
168,130

-
(143,039

444,856

Plant and 
Equipment

$

)

421,351
461,207

(172,637

709,921

Total
$

9. Accounts payables and other payables

Current
Accounts payable
Other payables and accruals
Levy accounts – Athletes
Levy accounts – Teams
Grants and other income in advance
Funds held in Trust

Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as accounts 
payable and other payables

Total current
Total non-current

Less:  Grants and other income in advance

Financial liabilities as accounts payable and other payables

58,633
89,213

101,658
27,281

243,658
147,379
667,822

667,822
-

667,822
(243,658

424,164

83,227
86,495

126,568
53,924

358,203
147,197
855,614

855,614
-

855,614
(358,203

497,411

) )
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               2018  2017
                        $       $

10. Employee provisions
 

Current
Annual leave
Long service leave
 
Non-Current
Long service leave
 

Analysis of total provision:
 

Opening balance 1 April 2016
Additional provision raised during the year
Amount used
Balance at 31 March 2017

53,555
59,701

113,256

-
113,256

Employee
provisions

$
113,210

82,021
(81,975
113,256

)

55,989
57,221

113,210

-
113,210

Employee Provisions
Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the 
amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the 
required period of service.  Based on past experience, the association does not expect the full amount of annual 
leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months.  However, 
these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the association does not have an unconditional right 
to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement.
The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have 
not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. 

11. Operating Lease Commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease contracted for but not 
recognised in the financial statements
Payable – minimum lease payments:
- No later than 12 months
- Between 12 months and five years
- Later than five years

12,597
-
-

12,597

8,453
-
-

8,453

The property lease for the Putney premises has now expired and the premises are subject to a casual operating 
lease with a 4 month notice period.  Rent for the four month notice period has been included in the commitment 
above.
The property lease for the Wollongong premises is a non-cancellable operating lease and ends 18/5/18.
The property lease for the Newcastle premises is a non-cancellable operating lease and ends 24/11/18.

12. Events Subsequent to Reporting date    
There have been no significant events subsequent to the reporting date.
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               2018      2017
                        $          $

13. Related party transactions

i. Key management Personnel
The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel 
of the association during the year are as follows:
Key management personnel compensation

ii. Other related parties
Other related parties include close family members of key 
management personnel, and entities that are controlled 
or jointly controlled by those key management personnel 
individually or collectively with their close family members
360HR Pty Limited, for whom Di Pass, a committee member of 
the association acts as director
 - Recruitment of temporary staff services

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial 
terms and conditions, no more favourable than those available 
to other persons unless otherwise stated.  

14. Financial risk management

The association’s financial instruments consist mainly of 
deposits with banks, short-term investments, and accounts 
receivable and payable.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured 
in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the accounting 
policies to these financial statements are as follows:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivables and other debtors
Other current assets
Total Financial Assets

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
- Accounts payable and other payables
Total Financial Liabilities

178,605

1,595

427,842
69,592

122,380
619,814

424,164
424,164

175,157

10,381

635,750
124,960
122,215
882,925

497,411
497,411
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15. Additional information required by the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 (NSW)

Gross income from fundraising
Solicited Donation Appeals
Unsolicited Donations
Fundraising Events
Bequest

Less: Total costs of fundraising
Costs of Solicited Donation appeals
Costs of Fundraising Events
Fundraising activity staff & administration costs

Net surplus from fundraising

This surplus was applied to meet the objectives of the association
in the following manner:

Expenditure on direct services:
Salaries & on-costs of program staff
Grants to members for sporting pursuits
Costs of conducting sporting activities
Net costs of conducting regional program
Costs of roadshow program (net of wages)
Costs of conducting stadium programs
Costs of conducting major sporting events
Uniforms, equipment, newsletters & vehicle costs 

Expenditure on administration & marketing activities:
Salaries and on-costs
Audit, insurance & general overheads
Depreciation and amortisation costs

Total expenditure

Shortfall between net surplus from fundraising
& total expenditure

511,086
35,092

224,268
10,000

89,825
47,419

214,300
2,315

326,200
45,621

185,334
29,060
27,571

325,711
349,370

55,139

319,774
121,440
172,637

 

780,446

353,859
426,587

1,344,006

613,851
1,957,857

(1,531,270
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15. Additional information required by the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 (NSW) (Continued)

The shortfall was provided for with income from the following sourc-
es:

Sponsorships & grants
Stadium court hire, player registrations & canteen
Interest received
Income from Roadshow Program
Major event entry fees
Membership fees
Gain on sale of property plant and equipment
Other sundry income

Total income from other sources

Net operating deficit

Comparison of certain monetary figures and percentages

Total cost of fundraising 
Gross income from fundraising:
Total cost of fundraising / gross income from fundraising:

Net surplus from fundraising 
Gross income from fundraising:
Net surplus from fundraising / gross income from fundraising:

Total costs of services
Total expenditure:
Total costs of services / total expenditure:

Total costs of services 
Gross income received
Total costs of services / gross income received

 

1,203,681
367,488

12,295
85,612
30,584

9,862
15,000

100,629

2018
$

353,859
780,446

426,587
780,446

1,344,006
1,957,857

1,344,006
2,605,597

xvii

 

(1,531,270)

1,825,151

293,881

2018
%

45.3

54.7

68.6

51.6
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In the opinion of the committee the financial report as set out on pages i to xvii:

1. Presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Wheelchair Sports NSW Incorporated as at 31 March 
2018 and its performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
– Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Board and the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012: and

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Wheelchair Sports NSW Incorporated 
will be able to pay its debts as an when they fall due.

Declaration in respect of fundraising appeals

In the opinion of the committee:
(a) the accounts give a true and fair view of all income and expenditure with respect to fundraising appeals for the 

financial year ended 31 March 2018;
(b) the statement of financial position gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the association with respect 

to fundraising appeals as at 31 March 2018
(c) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW), the Regulations under the Act and the conditions 

attached to the authority have been complied with for the financial year ended 31 March 2018; and
(d) the internal controls exercised by the association are appropriate and effective in accounting for all income 

received and applied by the association from any of its fundraising appeals.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Committee and is signed for and on behalf of the 
Committee by:

__________________________    __________________________

Jason Preston      Brendon Talbott
Chair of Committee     Committee Member

Dated this  1st day of June 2018    Dated this 1st day of June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF
WHEELCHAIR SPORTS NSW INCORPORATED

ABN 81 827 767 938
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Wheelchair Sports NSW Incorporated (the registered entity), which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the statement by members of the 
Committee.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Wheelchair Sports NSW Incorporated has been prepared in 
accordance with Div 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012,  including:

i. giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2018 and of its performance 
for the year then ended; and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Basis of Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of the registered entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The members of the Committee are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the registered entity’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2018, but does not include 
the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other 
information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit 
of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the members of the Committee for the Financial Report
The members of the Committee of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the members of the 
Committee determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and 
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is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial report, the members of the Committee are responsible for assessing the registered entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the members of the committee either intend to liquidate the registered entity or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
registered entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the members of the Committee.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the members’ of the Committee use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the registered entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the registered entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with the members of the Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

GLENN MCEWEN
THOMAS GLC
HORNSBY  NSW    

Dated this 1st  day of June 2018
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